
Statutory Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for 
Housing Briefing 
Dear Member

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Statutory Deputy City Mayor & Lead 
Member for Housing Briefing to be held as follows for the transaction of the business 
indicated. 

If any member of the public wishes to raise a question or comment on any of the items 
listed, which will be presented at the meeting on your behalf, you can do so in writing, 
by sending an email to the address at the bottom of this agenda. Please do this by 
4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place.

Sian Roxborough
Proper Officer

DATE: Friday, 26 June 2020

TIME: 12.45 pm

VENUE: Please see link to MS Teams Live Audio Stream below:

AGENDA

LINK TO LIVE AUDIO STREAM:
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-
join/19%3ameeting_NDkwNzliMmEtY2EyYy00ODQzLThiYjAtNzg3YT
JhZjgxY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00
060-d80e-40a5-b83f-
3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-
a319-
8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d

1  Apologies for absence. 

2  Declarations of interest. 

3  Items for Decision (Part 1 - Open to the Public): 

3a Financial Assistance for Older and Vulnerable Clients. (Pages 1 - 6)

3b Intentional Homelessness for Care Leavers. (Pages 7 - 24)

4  Exclusion of the Public. 

5  Items for Decision (Part 2 - Closed to the Public): No items. 

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDkwNzliMmEtY2EyYy00ODQzLThiYjAtNzg3YTJhZjgxY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDkwNzliMmEtY2EyYy00ODQzLThiYjAtNzg3YTJhZjgxY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDkwNzliMmEtY2EyYy00ODQzLThiYjAtNzg3YTJhZjgxY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDkwNzliMmEtY2EyYy00ODQzLThiYjAtNzg3YTJhZjgxY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDkwNzliMmEtY2EyYy00ODQzLThiYjAtNzg3YTJhZjgxY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDkwNzliMmEtY2EyYy00ODQzLThiYjAtNzg3YTJhZjgxY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NDkwNzliMmEtY2EyYy00ODQzLThiYjAtNzg3YTJhZjgxY2Iz%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%229d684c1d-4eb2-40d0-a319-8a0562477992%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


6  Any other business. 

Contact Officer: Claire Edwards

E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


2

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No.

REPORT OF STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE

TO
STATUTORY DEPUTY CITY MAYOR & LEAD MEMBER FOR HOUSING

ON 

26th JUNE 2020

TITLE: FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR OLDER AND VULNERABLE CLIENTS

RECOMMENDATIONS: That Lead Member approves

1. An exception to the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy (PSHAP) as 
outlined in this report to provide financial assistance to all qualifying applicants 
within the limits of the capital budget allocation until the end of the calendar 
year.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

In 2004 the Council worked with Salford University and Barclays Bank to establish a 
community-based financial institution called Salford Money Line.  The Council provided 
financial support to Salford Money Line through a range of funding streams to support the 
administration of non-housing loan products to combat financial exclusion. With the 
introduction of the council’s Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy in 2007 there was an 
opportunity to use this organisation to administer the loan products specified in that Policy.

On 17th June 2007 Lead Member for Housing approved an in-principle agreement with SML 
Homes Ltd, a subsidiary company of Salford Money Line, to allow SML Homes Ltd to pursue 
registration with the Financial Services Authority.  The range of loans across various services 
was set out in the Council’s Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 2007 (PSHAP), this was 
to facilitate Relocation assistance, Homeowner Improvement loans, Disabled Facilities Grant 
top-up loans and Empty Property Improvement loans.

Salford City Council and SML loans entered into a Service Level and Funding Agreement on 
25th July 2008. In July 2014 the delivery vehicle changed and SML Homes was absorbed into 
StreetUK Homes Ltd (SUK). The contract between the Council and SUK was subsequently 
amended in 2014 with the main ‘terms and conditions’ remaining the same. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



2

At a contract review meeting in December 2019 a SUK Representative advised that a board 
meeting was to be held in January 2020 to discuss business across all areas of Street UK 
Homes Ltd, the arm of SUK which delivers the services covered by the Council’s contract. On 
the 27th January 2020 SUK informed the Council of their intention to exercise their right to 
terminate the contract and that they would be writing to give 3 months’ notice as required under 
the contract. SUK have advised the Council that while they are not able to deal with any new 
applications for loans under the Council’s PSHAP, they are willing to continue to manage the 
Council’s existing PSHAP Loan Portfolio for a limited period until the Council has had the 
opportunity to make alternative management arrangements (including whether the Council 
should bring the management of the Council’s existing PSHAP Loan Portfolio back In-House). 
Since 2004, when the Council entered into its initial arrangements with Salford Money Line, 
there have been major changes to consumer credit legislation, which have meant that currently 
almost all lending to individuals comes within the definition of “regulated activities”.  Under 
current consumer credit legislation, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) has taken over the 
regulatory role from the FSA and “regulated activities” can only be carried out by a body that 
is registered with the FCA for the purposes of the activities concerned. The Council is not itself 
registered with the FCA for the purposes of making “regulated” loans to individuals.  The forms 
of the PSHAP Loans that are currently used by SUK are all “regulated” loans and so the 
Council cannot itself offer these same forms of “regulated” loans without FCA Authorisation,  
There are however, a limited number of Local Authority “exemptions” under current consumer 
credit legislation which means that Local Authorities are able to enter into certain specific forms 
of financial arrangements with individuals which do not require the Local Authority to obtain 
FCA Authorisation.  

After seeking initial legal advice and a discussion with procurement it became apparent that 
due to the complexity of the contract and consumer credit legislation, specialist legal advice 
would need to be sought. External specialist legal advice in relation to consumer credit 
legislation has been obtained from DWF and progress is being made with SUK regarding the 
review of the existing loan portfolio with a view to making arrangements for the future 
management of these existing loans.  

The pressing matter is for the Council to agree an “interim” solution to deal with new 
applications for loans made under the PSHAP that will allow the Council to continue to provide 
financial assistance to elderly and vulnerable residents to carry out home improvements which 
will allow them to remain living in their property safely. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Briefing note, City Issues note, Private 
Sector Housing Assistance Policy (PSHAP)

KEY DECISION: NO

DETAILS:

1.0 Current Situation

Page 2



2

1.1 The immediate impact of SUK terminating its contract with the Council (effective from 
19 June 2020), is that the Council has been left without a mechanism to service 
applications for new Council PSHAP loans to clients. With regard to the historic PSHAP 
Loans that SUK has entered into on behalf of the Council, SUK has indicated that they 
are willing to continue to manage these existing Council PSHAP loans for a short period 
to enable the Council to determine future arrangements.  Following an initial review of 
the current PSHAP Loans and legal advice from DWF in relation to current consumer 
credit legislation, it appears that the majority of the existing Council PSHAP loans could 
be taken back “In-House” by the Council, depending on the ability of the Council’s 
Finance and Housing teams to take over the management of these Loans. However, 
the current inability of the Council to deal with applications for new Council PSHAP 
Loans will adversely affect service provision and our client base. The Home 
Improvement and Assistance service (HIA) provides financial assistance to some of 
our most vulnerable and elderly residents, and the Council’s PSHAP loan products are 
offered as an alternative to prevent people seeking financial solutions from loan sharks 
and high interest lenders to reduce financial hardship. 

1.2 Disable Facilities Grants (DFG’s) rely heavily on the availability of Council PSHAP top-
up loans to assist the client meet the full cost of a much-needed adaptation. This 
service will be unable to move new or existing cases forward without clarity on what an 
alternative offer will be.

1.3 The Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy (PSHAP) provides Lead Member 
discretion to approve exceptions to policy. The exception proposed is the discretion to 
approve direct financial assistance (DFA) in the form of a grant to a property owner. 
Any such grant funding would be secured on the land registry title of the property with 
a time restriction for a number of years, during which time any change of title would 
require the grant to be repaid to the council. The views of finance have also been 
sought on this and they are supportive of this approach.

1.4 An initial briefing has been provided to Lead Member to summarise the background to 
the issues and to seek the Lead Member’s views regarding potential ways forward. 
Lead Member expressed support for the development of an interim measure to allow 
time to seek a longer-term solution. This would provide continuity of service for both 
the Home Improvement and Assistance service and Specialist Housing Services while 
protecting the interests and needs of service users. 

2.0 Proposed Way Forward

2.1 As an intermediate solution, an exception to the Private Sector Housing Assistance 
Policy (PSHAP) is sought for an agreed period to provide direct financial assistance 
(DFA) in the form of a grant with conditions. The main grant condition would be that 
such assistance would be subject to a grant condition period of up to 20 years, during 
which time the grant would be required to be paid back to the council if the property 
had a change in ownership. The final form of the template Grant to be entered into 
between SCC and an individual SCC resident will be drafted so that it comes within 
one of the “Local Authority” exemptions within consumer credit legislation which apply 
to a very limited range of financial arrangements which can be entered into by Local 
Authorities without a requirement for FCA Authorisation.

Page 3



2

2.2 All other current policy limitations on assistance, maximum loan values, conditions and 
eligibility criteria, would remain in place. The above option would allow time for proper 
consideration of, and consultation regarding any proposals which could require the 
PSHAP to be permanently amended to offer new products or alter existing eligibility 
criteria. Any changes to the PSHAP would need to be formally approved in the 
appropriate manner.

2.3 Proposals for future products and/or assistance will consider any additional charges 
that need to be applied to ensure the Council 
recovers all costs incurred in providing a new service. The maximum loan to value of 
the property should also be factored when considering any new product. The relevant 
sections of PSHAP will need to be amended to reflect any agreed changes. 

2.4 A consultation will be undertaken with all stakeholders to identify demand and match 
the best fit products to meet such demand. This will provide the Council with clarity 
around what products it would want to make available at the end of the exception to 
policy period. A full report will be brought to Lead Member at this stage for 
consideration, including details of delivery mechanisms and the procurement process 
that would be required.

2.4 Another option for the Council to consider would be to stop providing financial 
assistance to older and vulnerable residents for home improvement works. A likely 
consequence of this would be clients presenting to other support services when in 
crisis, as they have not been able to access support at an earlier stage when repair to 
their property was more manageable. This will place an increased demand on other 
support services and increase the cost further on such scare resources.

3.0 Conclusion

3.1 Simplifying the product/s and process would improve the application process ensuring 
improvement work can be undertaken in a timelier manner so residents are able to live 
independently for longer in their own homes whilst reducing demand on other scarce 
resources. 

3.2 The other aspect of the contract with SUK is the management and administration of the 
existing loan portfolio. A report will be presented to Lead Member and the City Mayor 
at a future stage detailing how the existing loan portfolio is to be administered going 
forward.  

3.3 An exception to policy will provide council officers the time required to carry out 
meaningful consultation with our stakeholders and afford the opportunity to advance 
the service provision and address any changes in demand to best reflect client need 
going forward.

3.4 An update will be provided for customers outlining interim measures approved during 
the exception period. All current loan values, conditions and eligibility criteria will remain 
in place for the duration of the exception period. 

3.5 It is recommended that Lead Member approves an exception to policy as proposed in 
this report to allow appropriate officers to continue to provide financial assistance to 
elderly and vulnerable residents for a fixed period. 

Page 4



2

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 
(PSHAP)

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:
This Report complies with the council’s Equality and Diversity procedures. 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Low

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Kathryn Saldanha
The contractual arrangements between the Council and SUK have been 
longstanding and consumer credit legislation has evolved over this period so that 
most loans to individuals are now “regulated activities” that can only be carried out by 
FCA authorised bodies.  There are a limited number of Local Authority “exemptions” 
which enable Local Authorities to enter into certain forms of financial arrangements 
with individuals without requiring FCA Authorisation. Given the complexity of current 
consumer credit legislation and the FCA regulatory regime, the Council has sought 
specialist legal advice from DWF regarding its “historic” PSHAP Loans which have 
been entered into by SUK on behalf of the Council and new applications for PSHAP 
Loans which the Council has received since SUK exercised its right to terminate its 
contract with the Council in 19th June 2020.  With regard to new applications for 
PSHAP Loans, the Council proposes that a change is made to the current PSHAP so 
that, in place of the “regulated Loans” that SUK offers, the Council will enter into 
repayable Grants in a form that complies with the relevant “LA” exemptions: 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:
Natalie Birchall, ext 2316

The proposal to provide direct financial assistance in the form of a grant with 
conditions, will be funded from the approved Place, Home Improvement Agency 
capital programme.
The conditions would be that such assistance would be subject to a grant condition 
period of up to 20 years, during which time the grant would be required to be paid 
back to the council if the property had a change in ownership.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:
Emma Heyes, Category Manager, x6243

Page 5



2

There are no immediate procurement implications for this report for an exception to 
the change the PSHAP for the Council to provide direct financial assistance to 
residents, whilst future options are considered for a longer-term solution.

In due course the procurement team will continue to provide advice and assistance to 
the HIA team, to review those future options and market appraisal to replace the 
service provided by Street UK.

Any future procurement process should comply with the requirements of Contractual 
Standing Orders. 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: People Directorate

CONTACT OFFICER: Caren Green TEL NO: 0161 793 2835

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Citywide

Page 6



1

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No.

REPORT OF The Strategic Director for People

Briefing of the

Statutory Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for Housing

ON 26th June 2020 

TITLE: Intentional Homelessness for Care Leavers

RECOMMENDATIONS: THAT the Local Authority do not deem a care 
leaver as intentionally homeless. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Corporate Parenting Duties
   
As Corporate Parents, Local Authorities have duties to assist young people who are 
leaving or have left care up to their 25th birthday (except where the young person no 
longer wants a Personal Adviser).  This includes responsibilities towards care leavers 
who are homeless or threatened with homelessness.  

Local authorities are charged with ensuring all young people leaving care should 
have safe and appropriate accommodation to meet their needs.  Relevant council 
departments are advised to develop joint protocols or procedures and adopt a shared 
strategic approach to the provision of suitable accommodation for this vulnerable 
group.  Particular types of temporary accommodation such as Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation and Homes of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) accommodation should 
be avoided wherever possible and used only in exceptional circumstances for no 
longer than 2 days.

Why is there a proposal to end the practice of deeming care leavers as 
intentionally homeless? 

The rationale for ending the practice comes from both an ethical and practical 
standpoint.  As corporate parents, we should not be allowing care leavers to be 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3b



2

without suitable accommodation at all (we know this would certainly not be the case if 
we were their real parents).  As mentioned above, being without a stable place to live 
can lead to a multitude of further problems.  From a practical point of view, the strain 
on the range of services supporting care leavers in these distressful situations is 
much greater (especially where they are placed in temporary accommodation outside 
Salford) and will often incur addition local authority expenditure in both the short and 
long term.   

By deeming care leavers as intentionally homeless, the Local Authority is failing in its 
statutory duties as corporate parents and restricting the opportunities for support 
being given to young people leaving care placements in our area - this is the advice 
provided by our Legal Team. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
Paper on 

Intentional Homelessness.docx

KEY DECISION: NO

DETAILS:

Agreed at Leadership on 14th May 2020
Agreed at Lead Member Briefing for Children’s & Young People’s Services on 21st 
May 2020

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

Corporate parenting strategy

Corporate Parenting pledge

Care leaver pledge

care leaver strategy

Page 8



3

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: None

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

Other than a legal challenge by a care leaver as the LA being a 
corporate parent but deeming them to be intentionally homeless

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

By deeming care leavers as intentionally homeless, the Local Authority is failing in its 
statutory duties as corporate parents and restricting the opportunities for support 
being given to young people leaving care placements in our area - this is the advice 
provided by our Legal Team. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: 

CONTACT OFFICER: Phil Varghese TEL NO:     6071888
Jane Anderson 607 1900

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All Wards

Page 9



4

Paper for the Corporate Parenting Panel & Housing

Title: Proposal to end care leavers being deemed as ‘intentionally homeless’

Prepared by: Chris Purcell
Position: Corporate Parenting Officer (Next Step)
Date: 

What is ‘intentional homelessness’?

The Housing Act 1996 states that those who have deliberately done or failed to do 
something that has caused the loss of accommodation may no longer be owed a 
homeless housing duty and be deemed as 'intentionally homeless'.

Examples of intentional homelessness include:

 Failure or refusal to make rental payments, when it would have been affordable to 
do so

 Voluntarily leaving accommodation

 Eviction due to violent or threatening behaviour

 Eviction due to anti-social behaviour, nuisance or harassment towards neighbours

A full explanation of the legislation surrounding intentional homelessness is provided 
in Annex 1

What is the current situation for care leavers in Salford?

Thankfully the number of care leavers deemed as intentionally homeless in Salford is 
small.  Next Step are aware of two current cases and two resolved cases during the 
last twelve months.  Of these cases, one person was temporarily accommodated 
through the Greater Manchester Mayor’s ‘A Bed Every Night’ initiative.

The two main reasons why care leavers in Salford have ended up in this situation are 
where they have either given up a property or due to inappropriate behaviour when 
being placed in temporary accommodation.  Whilst continuing support is provided by 
their Pathway Advisor or Aftercare Worker, and sometimes assisted by a Tenancy 
Support Worker, we are reliant on the housing authority to make a further offer of 
accommodation.  Without this, the care leaver is left without a roof over their head     

How might becoming intentionally homeless impact more deeply on care 
leavers?

As we know from national and local statistics, care leavers are a particularly 
vulnerable group, which is already over-represented in the indicators of social 
deprivation and economic hardship.  Becoming intentionally homeless can often lead 
to further difficulties, especially around such issues as crime, risky behaviours (i.e. 
being a risk to themselves and others), and deterioration in mental health.  In 

Page 10



5

addition, being able to sustain an education, employment or training opportunity is 
much harder to do when their living arrangements are not certain.

Corporate Parenting Duties
   
As Corporate Parents, Local Authorities have duties to assist young people who are 
leaving or have left care up to their 25th birthday (except where the young person no 
longer wants a Personal Adviser).  This includes responsibilities towards care leavers 
who are homeless or threatened with homelessness.  Full details are provided in 
Annex 2 below.    

Local authorities are charged with ensuring all young people leaving care should 
have safe and appropriate accommodation to meet their needs.  Relevant council 
departments are advised to develop joint protocols or procedures and adopt a shared 
strategic approach to the provision of suitable accommodation for this vulnerable 
group.  Particular types of temporary accommodation such as Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation and Homes of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) accommodation should 
be avoided wherever possible and used only in exceptional circumstances for no 
longer than 2 days.

Why is there a proposal to end the practice of deeming care leavers as 
intentionally homeless? 

The rationale for ending the practice comes from both an ethical and practical 
standpoint.  As corporate parents, we should not be allowing care leavers to be 
without suitable accommodation at all (we know this would certainly not be the case if 
we were their real parents).  As mentioned above, being without a stable place to live 
can lead to a multitude of further problems.  From a practical point of view, the strain 
on the range of services supporting care leavers in these distressful situations is 
much greater (especially where they are placed in temporary accommodation outside 
Salford) and will often incur addition local authority expenditure in both the short and 
long term.   

By deeming care leavers as intentionally homeless, the Local Authority is failing in its 
statutory duties as corporate parents and restricting the opportunities for support 
being given to young people leaving care placements in our area - this is the advice 
provided by our Legal Team. 
 
Using the homelessness legislation to avoid making intentionally homeless 
decisions

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 places a duty on local housing authorities to 
make inquiries into any application where they have reason to believe that a person 
may be homeless or threatened with homelessness within the next 56 days.  
However, the Code of Guidance states the housing authorities may become aware of 
people who are threatened with homelessness but not within 56 days and 
encourages offers of assistance with these cases where possible.  It is therefore 
possible to commence the rehousing process outside of the 56 days allowing 
adequate time to address any issues with the care leaver, identify suitable 

Page 11



6

accommodation and put in place any support required to meet the needs of the 
young person ensuring that accommodation is sustainable.

The Prevention Duty

When a housing authority is satisfied that a person is threatened with homelessness 
within 56 days and eligible for assistance, they must take steps to ensure that they 
do not become homeless.  This can either be by retaining their existing 
accommodation or securing alternative accommodation that can be moved into in a 
planned way.  In the case of care leavers it will need to be the latter.   

In addition, there is an assessment duty to determine the reason for homelessness, 
the type of accommodation required and any support needs that need to be met in 
order to make any future accommodation sustainable.  The outcome of the 
assessment should be used to inform the contents of the young person’s 
personalised housing plan, (PHP).  The Code of Guidance suggests that, with the 
consent of the young person, arrangements should be put in place to enable the 
Personal Advisor to be involved in the assessment process, and further that the 
young person’s PHP should be informed by their Pathway Plan.  

The prevention duty is intentionality ‘blind’, meaning that the duty is owed whether 
the young person is likely to be intentionally homeless or not.  

Working arrangements between Next Step and Housing Options are long standing 
and work well, however there is an opportunity to improve these arrangements 
resulting in better outcomes for young people leaving care.

The Relief Duty

Where it is not possible to prevent homelessness, the prevention duty ends and the 
relief duty comes into effect.  The duty is now to try and relieve a person’s 
homelessness by securing suitable accommodation is made available for a minimum 
of six months.  This means that the homelessness duty can be discharged by 
securing a place in supported accommodation where it is agreed that a young person 
is not yet ready for independent living.

The relief duty lasts for 56 days, if at the end of the 56 days suitable accommodation 
has not been secured, then a decision would be made on the homelessness 
application and only then would intentionality be considered.  The relief duty is, as 
the prevention duty is, intentionality ‘blind’ – the duty is owed regardless of any 
consideration of intentionality.

However, as with the prevention duty, there is the discretion to extend the relief 
period beyond the 56 days.  

Making it Work   

The current practice is that Next Step notify Housing Options when a young person is 
due to leave care within the next six months.  Leaving care credits are added to the 
Salford Home Search registration along with relief and prevention credits to give a 

Page 12



7

sufficient level of priority to secure an offer.  Bidding for properties is done by the 
young person and/or Pathway Advisor.  Homeless applications are rarely recorded 
except where there is a requirement for temporary accommodation – these 
applications tend to be reactive rather than proactive, usually arising where 
something in the process has not worked.

The proposal going forward is that homelessness applications are made using a 
panel.  The panel could consist of the young person, their Pathway Advisor, (with the 
consent of the young person), a Next Step management representative and a 
Housing Options Advisor and potentially a Team Leader from the Housing Options 
Service.  

This would ensure that all the information required from the young person could be 
gathered in one go and that the young person would be clear about the process for 
securing suitable accommodation.  Support needs could be accurately determined 
ensuring the right offer of accommodation is made, increasing the likelihood of 
successful rehousing.

The proposal includes offers of accommodation made by direct let as opposed to 
bidding on properties advertised with Salford Home Search, and where appropriate, 
the registered provider could send representation to the panel meeting to ensure that 
suitable offers of accommodation are made.  Where this is not deemed necessary, 
the Housing Options Advisor can liaise with the registered providers to secure a 
property.

A further option would be to build in a form of ‘accreditation’ to be completed by the 
young person prior to rehousing to increase the confidence of registered providers 
allocating properties to care leavers and to ensure that the young person is fully 
aware of their responsibilities as a tenant.

In conclusion, by taking a homelessness application at the earliest opportunity and 
using the discretion allowed within the homelessness legislation to extend the 
prevention and relief duties where appropriate, it is possible to secure alternative 
accommodation for care leavers without making intentionally homeless decisions.

By using a panel and making direct offers, accommodation secured has a greater 
chance of being sustainable as support needs are known and taken into 
consideration; in addition the care leaver has a full understanding of the 
responsibilities involved in becoming a tenant.

Page 13



8

Annex 1

Section 191 of the 1996 Housing Act

Chapter 9: Intentional homelessness

Guidance on determining whether an applicant has become homeless intentionally under 
homelessness legislation. 

9.1 This chapter provides guidance on determining whether an applicant became homeless 
intentionally under section 191 of the 1996 Act.

9.2 The prevention and relief duties owed to applicants who are eligible for assistance and 
homeless, or threatened with homelessness, apply irrespective of whether or not they may 
be considered to be homeless intentionally.

9.3 Applicants who have a priority need, and whose homelessness has not been 
successfully relieved, are owed a lesser duty if they have become homeless intentionally 
than would be owed to them if they were homeless unintentionally. This reflects the general 
expectation that, wherever possible, people should take responsibility for their own 
accommodation needs and not behave in a way which might lead to the loss of their 
accommodation.

9.4 Where a housing authority finds an eligible applicant has a priority need but is homeless 
intentionally and the relief duty has come to an end, they have a duty to secure 
accommodation which is available to the applicant to provide reasonable opportunity for 
them to find their own accommodation. The authority must also provide advice and 
assistance in any attempts the applicant might make to secure accommodation. For further 
guidance on the accommodation duty owed to intentionally homeless applicants see Chapter 
15.

9.5 It is for housing authorities to satisfy themselves in each individual case whether an 
applicant is homeless intentionally. Generally, it is not for applicants to ‘prove their case.’ The 
exception is where an applicant seeks to establish that, as a member of a household where 
another member has been found or is likely to be found to have caused intentional 
homelessness of the household, they did not acquiesce in the behaviour that led to 
homelessness. In such cases, acquiescence may be assumed by the housing authority in 
the absence of material which indicates to the contrary.

9.6 Housing authorities must not adopt general policies which seek to pre-define 
circumstances that do or do not amount to intentional homelessness. In each case, housing 
authorities must form a view in the light of all their inquiries about that particular case. Where 
the original loss of settled accommodation occurred some years earlier and the facts are 
unclear, it may not be possible for the housing authority to satisfy themselves that the 
applicant became homeless intentionally.

Definition of intentional homelessness

1. 9.7 Section 191(1) provides that a person becomes homeless intentionally if ALL of 
the following apply:

1. (a) they deliberately do or fail to do anything in consequence of which they 
cease to occupy accommodation; and,

2. (b) the accommodation is available for their occupation; and,

Page 14

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/191
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-15-accommodation-duties-and-powers
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-15-accommodation-duties-and-powers
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/191


9

3. (c) it would have been reasonable for them to continue to occupy the 
accommodation.

However, for this purpose, an act or omission made in good faith by someone who was 
unaware of any relevant fact must not be treated as deliberate (see paragraph 9.23).

1. 9.8 Section 191(3) provides that a person must be treated as homeless intentionally 
if:

1. (a) the person enters into an arrangement under which they are required to 
cease to occupy accommodation which it would have been reasonable for the 
person to continue to occupy; and,

2. (b) the purpose of the arrangement is to enable the person to become entitled 
to assistance under Part 7; and,

3. (c) there is no other good reason why the person is homeless.

Whose conduct results in intentional homelessness?

9.9 Every applicant is entitled to individual consideration of their application. This includes 
applicants where another member of their family or household has made, or is making, a 
separate application. It is the applicant who must deliberately have done or failed to do 
something which resulted in homelessness.

9.10 Where a housing authority has found an applicant to be homeless intentionally, nothing 
in the 1996 Act prevents another member of their household from making a separate 
application. Situations may arise where one or more members of a household found to be 
intentionally homeless were not responsible for the actions or omissions that led to the 
homelessness. For example, a person may have deliberately failed to pay the rent or 
defaulted on the mortgage payments, which resulted in homelessness against the wishes or 
without the knowledge of their partner.

9.11 However, where applicants were not directly responsible for the act or omission which 
led to their family or household becoming homeless, but they acquiesced in that behaviour, 
then they may be treated as having become homeless intentionally themselves. In 
considering whether an applicant has acquiesced in certain behaviour, the housing authority 
should take into account whether the applicant could reasonably be expected to have taken 
that position through a fear of actual or probable violence.

Cessation of occupation

9.12 For intentional homelessness to be established there must have been actual occupation 
of accommodation which has ceased. However, occupation need not necessarily involve 
continuous occupation at all times, provided the accommodation was at the disposal of the 
applicant and available for their occupation. The accommodation which has been lost can be 
outside the UK. Housing authorities are reminded that applicants cannot be considered to 
have become homeless intentionally because of failing to take up an offer of 
accommodation. However, an applicant whose refusal of a suitable offer of accommodation 
brought to an end the section 193(2) duty under which they were at the time accommodated, 
resulting in the loss of that accommodation, may be considered to be intentionally homeless.

Consequence of a deliberate act or omission

9.13 For homelessness to be intentional, the ending of occupation of the accommodation 
must be a consequence of a deliberate act or omission by the applicant. Having established 
that there was a deliberate act or omission, the housing authority will need to decide whether 

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-9-intentional-homelessness#para9-23
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/193


10

the loss of the applicant’s home is the reasonably likely result of that act or omission. This is 
a matter of cause and effect. An example would be where a person voluntarily gave up 
settled accommodation that it would have been reasonable for them to continue to occupy, 
moved into alternative accommodation of a temporary or unsettled nature and subsequently 
became homeless when required to leave the alternative accommodation. Housing 
authorities will, therefore, need to look back to the last period of settled accommodation and 
the reasons why the applicant left that accommodation, to determine whether the current 
incidence of homelessness is the reasonably likely result of a deliberate act or omission.

Ceasing to be intentionally homeless

9.14 Where a person becomes homeless intentionally, that condition may continue until the 
link between the causal act or omission and the intentional homelessness has been broken. 
It could be broken by an intervening event which, irrespective of any act or omission on the 
part of the applicant, would have itself led to their being homeless at the point at which the 
housing authority was carrying out inquiries into their application for assistance. This might 
be the case where, for example, an applicant gave up accommodation without sufficient 
good reason but at the later point at which they applied for assistance due to homelessness 
this accommodation would no longer have been available to them, or reasonable for them to 
occupy.

9.15 The causal link between a deliberate act or omission and intentional homelessness is 
more typically broken by a period in settled accommodation which follows the intentional 
homelessness. Whether accommodation is settled will depend on the circumstances of the 
case, with factors such as security of tenure and length of residence being relevant. 
Occupation of accommodation that was merely temporary rather than settled, for example, 
staying with friends on an insecure basis, may not be sufficient to break the link with the 
earlier intentional homelessness. However, a period in settled accommodation is not the only 
way in which a link with the earlier intentional homelessness may be broken: some other 
event, such as the break-up of a marriage resulting in homelessness, may be sufficient.

Deliberate act or omission

9.16 For homelessness to be intentional, the act or omission that led to the loss of 
accommodation must have been deliberate, and applicants must always be given the 
opportunity to explain such behaviour. An act or omission should not generally be treated as 
deliberate, even where deliberately carried out, if it is forced upon the applicant through no 
fault of their own. Moreover, an act or omission made in good faith where someone is 
genuinely ignorant of a relevant fact must not be treated as deliberate (see paragraph 9.23).

1. 9.17 Generally, an act or omission should not be considered deliberate where, for 
example:

1. (a) the act or omission was non-payment of rent or mortgage costs which 
arose from financial difficulties which were beyond the applicant’s control, or 
were the result of Housing Benefit or Universal Credit delays;

2. (b) the housing authority has reason to believe the applicant is incapable of 
managing their affairs, for example, by reason of age, mental illness or 
disability;

3. (c) the act or omission was the result of limited mental capacity; or a 
temporary aberration or aberrations caused by mental illness, frailty, or an 
assessed substance misuse problem;

4. (d) the act or omission was made when the applicant was under duress;
5. (e) imprudence or lack of foresight on the part of an applicant led to 

homelessness but the act or omission was in good faith.

Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-9-intentional-homelessness#para9-23


11

9.18 An applicant’s actions would not amount to intentional homelessness where they have 
lost their home, or were obliged to sell it, because of rent or mortgage arrears resulting from 
significant financial difficulties, and the applicant was genuinely unable to keep up the rent or 
mortgage payments even after claiming benefits, and no further financial help was available.

9.19 Where an applicant has lost a former home due to rent arrears, the reasons why the 
arrears accrued should be fully explored, including examining the applicant’s ability to pay 
the housing costs at the time the commitment was taken on. Similarly, in cases which involve 
mortgagors, housing authorities will need to look at the reasons for mortgage arrears 
together with the applicant’s ability to pay the mortgage commitment when it was taken on, 
given the applicant’s financial circumstances at the time.

1. 9.20 Examples of acts or omissions which may be regarded as deliberate (unless any 
of the circumstances set out in paragraph 9.17 apply) include the following, where 
someone:

1. (a) chooses to sell their home in circumstances where they are under no risk 
of losing it;

2. (b) has lost their home because of willful and persistent refusal to pay rent or 
mortgage payments;

3. (c) could be said to have significantly neglected their affairs having 
disregarded sound advice from qualified people;

4. (d) voluntarily surrenders adequate accommodation in this country or abroad 
which it would have been reasonable for them to continue to occupy;

5. (e) is evicted because of their anti-social behaviour, nuisance to neighbours or 
harassment;

6. (f) is evicted because of violence or threats of violence or abuse by them 
towards another person;

7. (g) leaves a job with tied accommodation and the circumstances indicate that 
it would have been reasonable for them to continue in the employment and 
reasonable to continue to occupy the accommodation.

Available for occupation

9.21 For homelessness to be intentional the accommodation must have been available for 
the applicant, their household and any other person reasonably expected to live with them. 
For further guidance on availability for occupation see Chapter 6.

Reasonable to continue to occupy the accommodation

9.22 An applicant cannot be treated as intentionally homeless unless it would have been 
reasonable for them to have continued to occupy the accommodation. For further guidance 
on reasonable to continue to occupy see Chapter 6. It will be necessary for the housing 
authority to give careful consideration to the circumstances of the applicant and the 
household, in each case, and with particular care in cases where violence and abuse has 
been alleged. For further guidance on domestic violence and abuse see Chapter 21.

Act or omissions in good faith

9.23 Acts or omissions made by the applicant in good faith where they were genuinely 
unaware of a relevant fact must not be regarded as deliberate. Provided that the applicant 
has acted in good faith, there is no requirement that ignorance of the relevant fact be 
reasonable.

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-9-intentional-homelessness#para9-17
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-6-homeless-or-threatened-with-homelessness
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-6-homeless-or-threatened-with-homelessness
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-21-domestic-abuse


12

9.24 A general example of an act made in good faith would be a situation where someone 
gave up possession of accommodation in the belief that they had no legal right to continue to 
occupy the accommodation and, therefore, it would not be reasonable for them to continue to 
occupy it. This could apply where someone leaves rented accommodation in the private 
sector having received a valid notice to quit or notice that the assured shorthold tenancy has 
come to an end and the landlord requires possession of the property, and the former tenant 
was genuinely unaware that they had a right to remain until the court granted an order for 
possession and a warrant or writ for possession to enforce it.

9.25 Where there was dishonesty there could be no question of an act or omission having 
been made in good faith.

1. 9.26 Other examples of acts or omissions that could be made in good faith might 
include situations where:

1. (a) a person gets into rent arrears, being unaware that they may be entitled to 
Housing Benefit, Universal Credit or other social security benefits;

2. (b) an owner-occupier faced with foreclosure or possession proceedings to 
which there is no defence, sells before the mortgagee recovers possession 
through the courts or surrenders the property to the lender; or,

3. (c) a tenant, faced with possession proceedings to which there would be no 
defence, and where the granting of a possession order would be mandatory, 
surrenders the property to the landlord.

9.27 In (c) although the housing authority may consider that it would have been reasonable 
for the tenant to continue to occupy the accommodation, the act should not be regarded as 
deliberate if the tenant made the decision to leave the accommodation in ignorance of 
relevant facts.

Applicant enters into an arrangement

9.28 Housing authorities will need to be alert to the possibility of collusion by which a person 
may claim that they are obliged to leave available accommodation that would have been 
reasonable for them to continue to occupy in order to take advantage of the homelessness 
legislation. Collusion is not confined to arrangements with friends or relatives but can also 
occur between landlords and tenants. Housing authorities, while relying on experience, 
nonetheless need to be satisfied that collusion exists, and must not rely on hearsay or 
unfounded suspicions in finding that an applicant became intentionally homeless under 
section 191(3).

9.29 For collusion to amount to intentional homelessness, section 191(3) specifies that there 
should be no other good reason for the applicant’s homelessness. Examples of other good 
reasons include overcrowding or an obvious breakdown in relations between the applicant 
and their host or landlord. In some cases involving collusion the applicant may not actually 
be homeless, if there is no genuine need for the applicant to leave the accommodation. For 
further guidance on applicants asked to leave by family or friends see Chapter 6.

9.30 Specific guidance relating to intentional homelessness can also be found in the 
following chapters:

 Chapter 22: care leavers

Annex 2

Section 191 of the 1996 Housing Act

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-6-homeless-or-threatened-with-homelessness
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-22-care-leavers


13

 Chapter 22: Care leavers

Guidance on providing homelessness services to care leavers. 

1. 22.1 This chapter provides guidance on specific duties towards care leavers who are 
homeless or threatened with homelessness. It covers:

1. (a) corporate parenting duties placed on housing authorities;
2. (b) joint working arrangements between housing authorities and children’s 

services authorities;
3. (c) prevention and relief of homelessness;
4. (d) assessing whether or not a care leaver has a priority need for 

accommodation; and,
5. (e) the provision of suitable accommodation.

Corporate parenting duties

1. 22.2 Local authorities have duties and powers to assist young people who are leaving 
and have left local authority care. As a corporate parent to all children in care and 
care leavers all parts of a local authority, including a housing authority, must have 
regard to the need:

1. (a) to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health 
and well-being, of those children and young people;

2. (b) to encourage those children and young people to express their views, 
wishes and feelings;

3. (c) to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 
young people;

4. (d) to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the 
best use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners;

5. (e) to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for 
those children and young people;

6. (f) for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their 
home lives, relationships and education or work; and,

7. (g) to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent 
living.

Children and Social Work Act 2017 (Part 1, (1(a-g))

22.3 There is a duty on children’s services authorities to appoint a Personal Adviser to 
provide support to care leavers until they reach their 25th birthday (except where the young 
person no longer wants a Personal Adviser) (Part 1(3), Children and Social Work Act 2017). 
The support provided by Personal Advisers should be based on the needs of the young 
person as set out in their statutory Pathway Plan. This may include support from a housing 
authority.

22.4 Any joint working arrangements between a children’s services authority and a housing 
authority for care leavers’ transition to independent living should include ensuring the delivery 
of effective preparation for independence with planned, sustainable moves into supported or 
independent accommodation. Local processes and/or practices should not involve care 
leavers routinely being treated as homeless when care placements come to an end in order 
to place the housing authority under an obligation to secure accommodation under Part 7 of 
the 1996 Act.

Page 19

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/section/3


14

Joint working arrangements

22.5 The Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
and the Secretary of State for Education consider that all young people leaving care should 
have safe and appropriate accommodation to meet their needs. By working together, 
housing authorities and children’s services authorities can better ensure that as a corporate 
parent, the appropriate accommodation and support is available to care leavers.

22.6 Housing authorities, children’s services authorities and other relevant departments 
within local authorities, are advised to develop joint protocols or procedures to ensure that 
each department plays a full role in providing corporate parenting support to young people 
leaving care. In two-tier areas all housing authorities in the county should be party to these 
arrangements.

22.7 A joint protocol should cover arrangements for achieving planned, supportive transitions 
to independent living; identifying homelessness risk early and acting to prevent it, and 
providing a quick, safe, joined up response for care leavers who do become homeless.

Advice and information

1. 22.8 Advisory services provided by housing authorities’ under section 179 must be 
designed to meet the needs of care leavers in their district (section 179(2)(b)). For 
further guidance on the provision of advice and information on homelessness see 
Chapter 3. Housing authorities should work with children’s services authorities and 
consult with care leavers themselves to ensure the advice and information is:

1. (a) designed and delivered in an appropriate format for the age of the client 
group;

2. (b) available through communication channels which care leavers are most 
likely to access;

3. (c) understood by children’s services authority staff.

22.9 It is recommended that housing options advice be made available to young people 
preparing to leave care to help them to make informed choices and avoid becoming 
homeless. Housing authorities may wish to provide training and information to social 
workers, Personal Advisers and others who have responsibility to support looked after young 
people, to ensure that the most up to date and accurate information on housing options is 
available to them.

Prevention and relief of homelessness

1. 22.10 There is a duty on specified public bodies to refer to a housing authority (with 
consent) any household which is threatened with homelessness or is homeless within 
56 days to a housing authority with the service user’s consent (section 213B). The 
following services are among those subject to the duty to refer:

1. (a) social service authorities; and,
2. (b) custodial institutions, youth offending teams and probation services.

22.11 For further guidance on duty to refer see Chapter 4. Specific referral arrangements 
should be made for care leavers and set out in the joint protocol or procedures.

22.12 When a young person aged between 18 and 24 approaches directly or is referred to a 
housing authority, if it is known that they are a care leaver or the young person says they are 
a care leaver, then the children’s services authority which has responsibility for them should 
be informed as soon as possible, with consent from the young person.

Page 20

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/section/2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-3-advice-and-information-about-homelessness-and-the-prevention-of-homelessness
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/section/10
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-4-the-duty-to-refer-cases-in-england-to-housing-authorities


15

22.13 Where there is a duty to assess a care leaver’s housing and other support needs and 
develop a personalised housing plan, arrangements should be in place to enable the 
Personal Adviser to be involved in the assessment process with the young person’s consent. 
For further guidance on assessments and personalised housing plans see Chapter 11. 
Where there is no agreed local working arrangement, or where the young person has been 
looked after by a children’s services authority which is not part of local joint protocol 
arrangements, the housing authority must continue without delay with the duties owed to the 
young person under Part 7 of the 1996 Act.

22.14 Where a care leaver has a personalised housing plan this should be informed, by their 
Pathway Plan (section 23C(3)(b) of the Children Act 1989). The Secretary of State for the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government considers it appropriate for housing 
authorities to involve a young person’s Personal Adviser in assessing their needs and 
circumstances and developing a personalised housing plan that is appropriate to them. The 
young person’s consent must be obtained, and it would be advisable to seek their consent 
for the Personal Adviser to continue to be informed and involved in efforts to prevent or 
relieve homelessness. The Personal Adviser may also be requested to take actions to deliver 
the personalised housing plan.

22.15 There are specific legal requirements in relation to local connection for care leavers 
(section 199(8) to (11). For further guidance on local connection see Chapter 10.

22.16 Subject to arrangements for consent, where a housing authority is concerned that a 
care leaver may not be co-operating with the required steps set out in the personalised 
housing plan this should be shared as soon as possible with the Personal Adviser to enable 
joint early action to remind the young person of the actions to be taken and the 
consequences of not doing so. For further guidance on deliberate and unreasonable refusal 
to co-operate see Chapter 14. Joint working to understand mitigating factors and resolve 
issues should continue throughout any action related to deliberate and unreasonable refusal 
to co-operate.

22.17 The Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government considers that all attempts should be made by housing authorities to avoid the 
impact of intentionally homeless decisions in relation to care leavers aged 18 – 25. For 
further guidance on intentional homelessness see Chapter 9. It will be a matter for the 
housing authority to determine whether or not a care leaver has become homeless 
intentionally, taking into account all relevant facts. To inform this assessment, housing 
authorities should consult with the relevant children’s services authority and obtain advice 
and information as to the young person’s emotional and mental well-being, maturity and 
general ability to understand the impact of their actions.

22.18 The personalised housing plan should be reviewed and, the housing authority and 
Personal Adviser or other officer should work together with the young person to try and 
resolve the issues.

22.19 Children’s services authorities have a duty to ‘former relevant’ care leavers in terms of 
accommodation if there are no other options available and the welfare of the care leaver 
requires it (section 23C(4c) of the Children Act 1989).

Assessing priority need

22.20 Section 193 of the 1996 Act requires housing authorities to secure accommodation for 
applicants who have a priority need, and whose homelessness has not been prevented or 
relieved.

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-11-assessments-and-personalised-plans
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/23C
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/section/8
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-10-local-connection-and-referrals-to-another-housing-authority
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-14-ending-the-prevention-and-relief-duties
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-9-intentional-homelessness
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/23C
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/193


16

22.21 Categories and definitions of people who have priority need are set out in Chapter 8, 
and include young people under 21 who were looked after between the ages of 16 and 18; 
and people aged 21 or more who are vulnerable as a result of having been looked after, 
accommodated or fostered. Both of these categories exclude ‘relevant students’, who are 
owed particular accommodation and support duties under the Children (Leaving Care) Act. It 
should be noted that a young person who was looked after when aged 16 or 17 will be in 
priority need when they are 18, 19 or 20 years old, whether or not they qualify for care 
leaving services from a children’s services authority.

1. 22.22 Guidance on priority need and vulnerability is contained in Chapter 8, and 
should be taken into account when assessing whether a person aged 21 or over is 
vulnerable as a result of having been looked after, accommodated or fostered. 
Factors that a housing authority may wish to consider include:

1. (a) the length of time that the applicant was looked after, accommodated or 
fostered;

2. (b) the reasons why they were looked after, accommodated or fostered;
3. (c) the length of time since the applicant left care, and whether they have 

been able to obtain and maintain accommodation during any of that period;
4. (d) whether the applicant has any existing support networks, particularly 

including family, friends or a mentor.

22.23 Housing authorities should take particular care in assessing whether a care leaver 
aged 21 or over is vulnerable, and should take into account whether, if homeless, they would 
be at particular risk of exploitation, abuse or involvement in offending behaviour as a result of 
having been looked after, accommodated or fostered.

Suitable accommodation for care leavers

22.24 Housing authorities and children’s services authorities should adopt a shared strategic 
approach to the provision of suitable accommodation for care leavers.

22.25 In considering suitability, all authorities should bear in mind that care leavers who are 
homeless will be particularly vulnerable and in need of support. They may lack skills in 
managing their affairs and require help with managing their own accommodation and 
operating a household budget. Many care leavers are likely to lack the advice and support 
normally available to other young people from family, friends and a mentor.

22.26 There should be no blanket presumption that at 18 a young person who has left care 
will be ready for their own tenancy; this should be a matter of individual assessment. Options 
will be based on their individual preferences, needs, circumstances and the local provision 
available and might include, for example, supported lodgings, supported accommodation or 
independent accommodation with visiting support.

22.27 Bed and breakfast accommodation, including hotels and nightly let accommodation 
with shared facilities, is not considered suitable for care leavers aged under 25 and should 
only be used in exceptional circumstances and for short periods.

22.28 The specific needs and circumstances of care leavers should be taken into account in 
determining suitability of accommodation in relation to its location. For example, in the 
absence of strong family support networks they may wish to live as near as possible to 
another significant adult such as a friend or ex-foster carer; or need to avoid certain locations 
due to childhood experiences or associations.

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-8-priority-need
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-8-priority-need


17

22.29 Housing authorities may want to involve Personal Advisers in decisions about the 
suitability of accommodation and inform them prior to making an offer of accommodation, 
with the young person’s consent. For further guidance on suitability of accommodation see 
Chapter 17.

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-17-suitability-of-accommodation


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Financial Assistance for Older and Vulnerable Clients.
	3b Intentional Homelessness for Care Leavers.

